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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION
BRIANA HICKS, )
)
Plaintiff, ) No.

)

V. )

)

SOUTHWEST AIRLINES CO., )
) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendant. )

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Dr. Briana Hicks hereby brings this action against Southwest Airlines Co.
(Southwest) for violations of 42 U.S.C. §1981. By her attorneys, Public Citizen Litigation Group
and Miner, Barnhill & Galland, P.C., she alleges the following facts:

INTRODUCTION

1.  On November 20, 2024, Southwest engaged in blatant and egregious race
discrimination when it subjected Dr. Hicks, a Black woman, to differential treatment aboard
Southwest Flight 952, and subsequently ejected her from the flight, without any valid reason,
solely based on her race.

2. Dr. Hicks was seated in an exit row on Flight 952. During the exit-row briefing, as
Dr. Hicks was putting her phone into “airplane mode,” a white flight attendant singled out Dr.
Hicks for having a phone in her hand while he was talking. As described in detail herein, he then
demeaned, belittled, and berated Dr. Hicks in front of her fellow passengers.

3. All of the other passengers in the exit rows were white, and many had their phones
in their hands or were typing on laptop computers during the exit-row briefing. The only

explanation for Dr. Hicks’s differential treatment is that she is Black. A white exit-row passenger
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contemporaneously recognized as much, asking the flight attendant why he was singling out Dr.
Hicks and castigating her when white exit-row passengers were also holding their phones during
the briefing.

4. Dr. Hicks reported her differential treatment to other flight attendants aboard Flight
952. Upon learning of that report, the flight attendant who gave the exit-row briefing had Dr.
Hicks kicked off the flight.

5. Dr. Hicks therefore both endured the humiliation and indignity of race
discrimination and experienced further discrimination for reporting that discrimination to other
Southwest employees.

6. As aresult of Southwest’s discrimination, Dr. Hicks was removed from her flight,
questioned by law enforcement officials, rebooked on a flight that arrived at her destination more
than four hours later, and suffered humiliation, embarrassment, and severe and ongoing stress.

7. In this lawsuit, Dr. Hicks seeks declaratory relief, just compensation for her pain and
suffering, a punitive damage award sufficient to deter Southwest from discriminating against
Black passengers in the future, and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§1331 and 1343,
as this action involves federal questions under 42 U.S.C. §1981. Declaratory and injunctive relief
is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§2201, 2202, and 1343.

9. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events

or omissions giving rise to these claims occurred in the Northern District of Illinois.
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PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Briana Hicks resides in the Chicago metropolitan area. She purchased a
ticket with Southwest to fly on Flight 952 on November 20, 2024.

11. Defendant Southwest Airlines Co. is a United States-based airline incorporated in
Texas and headquartered in Dallas, Texas. Southwest regularly and systematically conducts
business in the Northern District of Illinois.

FACTS

12. Dr. Hicks works as a drug intelligence clinical pharmacist for a large healthcare
company. She earned her Doctor of Pharmacy degree from the University of Pittsburgh, and she
is an expert in clinical pharmacology.

13. Dr. Hicks’s work requires her to research new and existing medications, evaluate
medical literature, and present her recommendations on the use of medications to groups of
doctors, insurers, and other healthcare professionals. She is based in Chicago but regularly flies
to other cities to present her research at meetings and conferences.

14. On November 21, 2024, Dr. Hicks was scheduled to present her research to a large
meeting of healthcare professionals, including medical doctors and CEOs of healthcare
companies, in Washington, DC.

15. Dr. Hicks purchased an airline ticket from Southwest to fly on the morning of
November 20 on Southwest Flight 952 from Chicago Midway International Airport (MDW) to
Washington Reagan National Airport (DCA).

16. Flight 952 was originally scheduled to depart Midway at 11:25 am and arrive at

DCA at 2:10 pm.
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17. Dr. Hicks is a frequent flyer of Southwest. She has flown with the airline with
sufficient regularity that she has qualified for Southwest “A-List status” since at least 2019. That
status entitles her to priority boarding on the airline, which as of November 20, 2024, did not
assign seats to individual passengers but instead had an open-seating policy.

18. On November 20, Dr. Hicks was among the first passengers to board Southwest
Flight 952. She selected an exit-row seat.

19. Dr. Hicks was the only Black passenger seated in the two exit rows. All of the other
exit-row passengers—approximately six or seven passengers in total—were white.

20. After other passengers boarded the flight, a white male flight attendant named Jeff
approached the exit row to provide the exit-row briefing.

21. As the flight attendant began briefing the exit row, Dr. Hicks put her phone in
airplane mode and placed her phone face-down in her lap.

22. Other exit-row passengers also had their phones out during the briefing. Some had
their phones in their hands and were actively using their phones during the briefing. One exit-
row passenger had his laptop computer out and was typing on it while the briefing proceeded.

23. The flight attendant interrupted his briefing to reprimand Dr. Hicks, and only Dr.
Hicks. In a hostile tone, he told her to “pay attention.” Dr. Hicks calmly replied that she was
listening and paying attention to the briefing.

24. The flight attendant became yet more hostile, directing Dr. Hicks in a loud and
aggressive manner to put her phone away. Dr. Hicks, again attempting to de-escalate the
situation, explained that her phone was already put away.

25. Now yelling at Dr. Hicks, the flight attendant demanded that she put her phone

“completely away.” Dr. Hicks explained, in a calm manner, that she was an experienced traveler
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and even held A-List status on the airline, so she fully understood the expectations of flying. She
requested that he stop speaking to her disrespectfully.

26. Nevertheless, the flight attendant continued loudly berating and harassing Dr. Hicks,
telling her to put her phone away and threatening to move her to a different seat. Dr. Hicks felt
degraded, humiliated, and traumatized.

27. The flight attendant targeted Dr. Hicks on the basis of her race. There was no other
factor that would have led him to treat her differently—and substantially worse—than the
similarly-situated white passengers in the exit row who were holding or using electronic devices.

28. Dr. Hicks did not say another word as he continued his tirade.

29. Another exit-row passenger, a white woman named Suzanne McBride, noticed that
the flight attendant treated Dr. Hicks with unwarranted hostility. Ms. McBride defended Dr.
Hicks, stating, “Sir, she’s listening to you. She’s not on her phone.”

30. Ms. McBride asked why the flight attendant was treating Dr. Hicks differently when
many of the white passengers in the exit row also had their phones in their hands.

31. The flight attendant ignored Ms. McBride’s inquiry.

32. All of the passengers in the exit rows, including Dr. Hicks, gave the flight attendant
a verbal “yes” when asked if they were capable of performing any necessary duties in the event
of an emergency.

33. Having concluded the briefing, the flight attendant moved to the front of the plane.

34. Intending to privately report the race discrimination she experienced to other
Southwest employees, Dr. Hicks walked to the back of the plane, where she encountered two
other flight attendants. Dr. Hicks explained to them that she had been targeted and discriminated

against on the basis of her race.
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35. One flight attendant, Aaron, said that there was little he could do about the incident,
but recommended that Dr. Hicks fill out a complaint form on Southwest’s website.

36. The other flight attendant dismissed Dr. Hicks’s concerns entirely, stating that he
had known Jeff, the flight attendant who had racially discriminated against Dr. Hicks, for years
and had “never seen him act in a discriminatory way.”

37. At that point, Jeff called the flight attendants at the back of the plane on the plane’s
internal telephone system. Aaron answered the phone. Although Dr. Hicks had hoped to voice
her concerns privately, Aaron reported to Jeff that Dr. Hicks was “back here talking about the
disrespect she experienced.”

38. Dr. Hicks, realizing that she would get no recourse from the Southwest flight
attendants aboard the flight, attempted to return to her seat.

39. Before she was able to sit back down, Jeff rushed down the aisle and yelled at her
that she had to “get off the flight now.”

40. Ms. McBride attempted again to advocate on behalf of Dr. Hicks. She told Jeff that
she did not understand why he escalated the situation and that she felt unsafe flying with him,
given his belligerent behavior.

41. As Ms. McBride has subsequently described, Jeff seemed to be trying to publicly
humiliate Dr. Hicks and to “put her in her place” for standing up for herself after he originally
targeted her.

42. At this point, two other representatives of Southwest—a supervisor named Liz and a
ground attendant named Jason—boarded the flight and informed Dr. Hicks that she was being

kicked off the flight and would need to be rebooked on another flight. When Dr. Hicks attempted
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to explain the situation to them, they told her that there was nothing they could do other than to
rebook her.

43. Although the pilot of Flight 952 did not witness any of the events that transpired, and
never spoke to Dr. Hicks, the Southwest representatives informed Dr. Hicks that the pilot had
made the determination that he would not fly with her aboard the plane.

44. While these conversations were taking place, another white exit-row passenger,
Katherine Phillips, who had been sitting directly in front of Dr. Hicks, told Dr. Hicks that she
witnessed the whole interaction and that she was willing to serve as a witness to corroborate that
Dr. Hicks was racially targeted.

45. Eventually, the Southwest representatives aboard the flight suggested that, as an
alternative to rebooking Dr. Hicks on a later flight, they could deplane the entire flight and have
a supervisor review the incident. Dr. Hicks elected that option because she felt confident that,
upon review of the incident, a supervisor would conclude that she had been unjustly targeted and
that she would be permitted to reboard Flight 952.

46. Upon deplaning, Dr. Hicks was met in the boarding area by police officers and TSA
officers, who then questioned her. Dr. Hicks explained that she was the victim of racially
discriminatory treatment.

47. Fellow passengers on Flight 952 apologized to Dr. Hicks for her mistreatment. Some
even hugged her, offering their support.

48. After all of the passengers had deplaned, Dr. Hicks was told that the pilot had made
the determination that Dr. Hicks would not be permitted to fly. The other passengers were

permitted to reboard the flight, but Dr. Hicks was barred from doing so.
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49. Ms. McBride told Southwest staff that, because she had spoken up on behalf of Dr.
Hicks, she did not feel safe to reboard the flight if the flight attendant who gave the exit-row
briefing remained a part of the flight crew. Her concern was not taken seriously. She ended up
reboarding the plane, despite her hesitation.

50. Representatives of Southwest rebooked Dr. Hicks on a flight scheduled to depart
Midway at 3:25 pm and arrive at DCA at approximately 6:10 pm, four hours after Flight 952’s
scheduled arrival.

51. Liz, the Southwest supervisor who had directed Dr. Hicks to deplane, told Dr. Hicks
that she and another supervisor would speak with Dr. Hicks about next steps in investigating the
incident. But Liz left the terminal without having that discussion with Dr. Hicks. And no other
supervisor ever arrived to speak with Dr. Hicks.

52. Eventually, Dr. Hicks, through her own efforts, located a different Southwest
supervisor in the terminal and explained the situation to her. That supervisor apologized for what
Dr. Hicks experienced, but explained that it was Southwest’s “protocol” to permit the flight
attendant to continue aboard the flight—despite the race discrimination that Dr. Hicks
described—because he was not based in Chicago and could not be directed to wait at Midway.

53. The supervisor also told Dr. Hicks that the two flight attendants at the back of the
plane were likely not responsive to her concerns because they may have to fly on multiple routes
together and feel “pressure” not to “go against” their coworkers.

54. The supervisor encouraged Dr. Hicks to submit an online complaint with as many
details as she could.

55. Dr. Hicks eventually boarded the rescheduled flight, selected the same exit-row seat,

and arrived at DCA without incident.
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56. Dr. Hicks submitted an online complaint to Southwest at 2:05 am on November 21,
2024. She also sent an email to Southwest executives on November 25, 2024.

57. Dr. Hicks received a response from the Southwest Airlines Safety & Security
Department to the online complaint on February 13, 2025.

58. The response from Southwest falsely claimed that Dr. Hicks “failed to adhere to
orderly rules of conduct while onboard, thereby disturbing the good order and discipline on the
aircraft.” It went on to state that, “[a]ccording to the information we received, your behavior
resulted in the flight returning to the gate and you being removed from the aircraft,” and that the
Contract of Carriage specifies that Southwest may refuse transport to a passenger for “refusing to
follow or obey the instructions of any member of the Crew, for engaging in a verbal
confrontation with the Crew Members or other Passengers,” or “for engaging in disorderly,
threatening, or belligerent behavior.”

59. None of the conditions set forth in the response applied to Dr. Hicks. She did not
refuse to follow any Crew instructions. She did not engage in a “verbal confrontation” with Crew
members or engage in “disorderly, threatening, or belligerent behavior.” Southwest’s false
account of the incident exacerbated the traumatic and humiliating discrimination that Dr. Hicks
endured.

60. Because of Southwest’s actions, Dr. Hicks arrived at her hotel room in Washington,
DC, far later than she had anticipated. She was noticeably late to a dinner with board members
and executives from her company. And she was so disturbed by the events that she could not
sleep or prepare for her presentation the following day.

61. Southwest’s race discrimination therefore impacted Dr. Hicks’s work performance,

causing her anxiety and distress.



Case: 1:25-cv-08495 Document #: 1 Filed: 07/24/25 Page 10 of 13 PagelD #:10

62. Southwest’s decision to remove Dr. Hicks from the flight was not based on any
legitimate rationale. It was an act of blatant discrimination, and it was done with malice and in
flagrant disregard of Dr. Hicks’s rights.

63. The existence of similarly-situated white comparators shows definitively that, but for
Dr. Hicks’s race, she would not have been harassed during the exit row briefing, and Southwest
would not have removed her from the plane for complaining about the discrimination she
experienced. Dr. Hicks was subjected to disparate—and substantially worse—treatment than
white passengers, and Southwest’s discrimination against her interfered with her ability to enjoy
the benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of her contractual relationship with Southwest.

64. As a direct consequence of this flagrant discrimination, Dr. Hicks has suffered
greatly. The discrimination that she experienced was traumatizing, scary, frustrating,
embarrassing, degrading, and humiliating. It is upsetting to Dr. Hicks to this day.

65. In addition to inflicting immediate distress, the incident also resurfaced and
intensified Dr. Hicks’s emotional trauma from past encounters with racism and discrimination.
Southwest’s actions not only revisited these wounds but also deepened them, exacerbating Dr.
Hicks’s suffering and sense of alienation.

66. Months later, Dr. Hicks took another Southwest flight from Midway to Miami,
Florida. At Midway, she encountered Jason—the ground attendant who boarded Flight 952 and
directed her to deplane. Jason remembered Dr. Hicks, and he apologized to her for the
mistreatment. He told her that he did not agree with the way she was treated but felt that his

hands were tied because Southwest’s protocols did not permit him to advocate for her.
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CLAIM FOR RELIEF

67. 42 U.S.C. §1981 provides that “[a]ll persons within the jurisdiction of the United
States shall have the same right in every State and Territory to make and enforce contracts . . . as
is enjoyed by white citizens.” 42 U.S.C. §1981(a). Under the statute, the phrase “make and
enforce contracts” includes “the making, performance, modification, and termination of
contracts, and the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of the contractual
relationship.” 42 U.S.C. §1981(b).

68. When Dr. Hicks contracted with Southwest for passage on Flight 952, she had a
right to be treated equally to white passengers and without discrimination—a right that
Southwest violated. Southwest subjected her to discriminatory, and substantially worse,
performance, benefits, privileges, terms, and conditions of her contract with Southwest, solely
due to her race.

69. Southwest’s racial discrimination against and harassment of Dr. Hicks was
intentional and malicious.

70. As a direct and proximate result of Southwest’s unlawful discrimination in violation
of Section 1981, Dr. Hicks has suffered, and continues to suffer, severe mental anguish and
emotional distress for which she is entitled to an award of damages.

71. Southwest’s unlawful and discriminatory actions constitute malicious, willful, and
wanton violations of Section 1981, for which Dr. Hicks is entitled to an award of punitive

damages.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Dr. Hicks respectfully seeks:

(1) A declaratory judgment that the actions, conduct, and practices of
Southwest complained of herein violate 42 U.S.C. §1981;

(2) An award of compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial
to compensate Dr. Hicks for the discrimination she experienced, including
damages for fear, humiliation, embarrassment, mental pain, suffering, and
inconvenience;

3) An award of punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial that
would punish Southwest for its malicious, willful, wanton, callous, and
reckless conduct and effectively deter Southwest from engaging in similar
conduct in the future;

(4) An award of prejudgment interest on all amounts due; and,

(5) An award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND
Dr. Hicks demands a trial by jury for all issues of fact and damages stated herein.
Dated: July 24, 2025 Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Benjamin Blustein

Benjamin Blustein
One of the Attorneys for Plaintiff

Benjamin Blustein
bblustein@lawmbg.com

Miner, Barnhill & Galland, P.C.
325 N. LaSalle St., Ste. 350
Chicago, IL 60654

(312) 751-1170
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Michael T. Kirkpatrick (pro hac vice application to be filed)
mkirkpatrick@citizen.org

Lauren E. Bateman (pro hac vice application to be filed)
Ibateman(@citizen.org

Public Citizen Litigation Group

1600 20th St., N.W.

Washington, DC 20009

(202) 588-7714

Counsel for Plaintiff
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